1951

# Uptown Appliance & Radio Company, Inc. v. Leland B. Flint et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff is Uptown Appliance and Radio Company, Inc. It was organized in 1947 to engage in the retail sale of electrical appliances in Salt Lake City. The business was conceived in the minds of Briant S. Badger, Ralph O. Bradley and Jean W. McDonough. The record does not show that any of them had ever had any substantial business experience. We mention this because the record will show that any business difficulties which overtook them were of their own making, and is in no sense chargeable to any of these appellants (Tr. 2129, 1675, 1676).

In the early fall of 1947, Bradley, Badger and McDonough agreed to enter upon the retail appliance business as co-partners (Tr. 680). In the formative stages of their business they recognized their own lack of experience and sensed the necessity of associating with themselves someone who could bring to the enterprise some knowledge of fiscal control and accounting. Accordingly, they invited Leland B. Tanner to participate with them. Tanner, like themselves, was without substantial business experience so far as the record shows. There is nothing to indicate that he ever had any experience in the operation of a retail business; but he had for sometime been employed by Wells, Baxter and

Miller, a firm of Certified Public Accountants (Tr. 1563). The partnership idea was discarded and the plaintiff corporation was organized in 1947 (Tr. 680) with Badger as President, Bradley as Vice President, and Tanner as Secretary and Treasurer. Bradley, Badger, Tanner and McDonough and their respective wives each subscribed \$2,000.00 to make up the firm's total capital of \$16,000.00. It is interesting and important to note that McDonough and Bradley never paid in quite the full amount of their subscriptions (Tr. 1431). Financial statements thereafter made by the plaintiff to its creditors concealed the fact that there was any deficiency in paid-in capital. The amount of unpaid capital subscriptions were included in "accounts receivable" (Exhibits 50 and 51; Tr. 1448, 1449).

At any rate, plaintiff began its corporate life with something less than \$16,000.00 (Tr. 680). It elected to transact business at 38 South Main Street in Salt Lake City. That space was held under lease by the operator of a shoe shine parlor. To induce the bootblack to vacate the premises and make room for plaintiff's appliance store, plaintiff was required to pay \$3,000.00 (Tr. 681, 682). Rehabilitation and decoration of the premises to make them suitable for the appliance business required the expenditure of approximately \$4,000.00 (Tr. 811). It will be seen, therefore, that approximately half of plaintiff's capital was spent before it acquired a stock of goods and opened its place for business. That fact is important as bearing upon the good faith of plaintiff's

case, and is significant when considered in connection with plaintiff's fantastic demands as reflected in its prayer for damages.

Before opening for business in November, 1947, plaintiff made connections with certain wholesalers other than those involved in this case, as the result of which it was able to stock its store with various electrical appliances. The store was opened for trade at the end of November, 1947 (Tr. 687 to 689).

During the year of 1948, plaintiff secured franchises or other authorization from various distributors for the sale of certain of their products at retail at its Main Street store. Plaintiff began the purchase of Easy Washers from Z. C. M. I., Bendix and Kelvinator appliances and Zenith radios from Flint Distributing Company, Hotpoint appliances from Graybar Electric Company, and RCA radios from Glenn Earl Distributing Company. Later in 1948 it began the purchase of phonograph records: Columbia records from Flint Distributing Company, RCA records from Glenn Earl Distributing Company, Decca records from Salt Lake Hardware Company, and other records from other distributors. It should be noted that when plaintiff made its connections with Z. C. M. I., Flint Distributing Company, Salt Lake Hardware and Graybar Electric Company, its only place of business was at 38 South Main Street. Sale of appliances by plaintiff at any other place was not then in the contemplation of the parties. No claim was made upon



the trial that any of those companies was under any agreement or obligation to continue for any length of time to furnish merchandise to plaintiff for resale. Plaintiff claimed that the wholesalers mentioned could not lawfully discontinue sale to it as the result of any concerted action or conspiracy.

We pause to describe briefly the competitive field upon which plaintiff launched its business. When plaintiff located at 38 South Main Street it found itself almost next door to the Warren Radio Company, which was and had been doing business at 28 South Main Street for many years. Plaintiff was directly across the street from Z. C. M. I. where a retail appliance business had been carried on for many years. The fact is that upon Main Street at that time there were not less than fifteen retail appliance stores (Tr. 2020, 2021). It is also a fact that at that time there were 323 retail appliance stores in Salt Lake City and vicinity (Tr. 1933, 1934).

Under-capitalized and over-manned as plaintiff was, it seemed to be going along in a normal way until it made its unfortunate association with Glenn Earl. Earl held the distributorship for Radio Corporation of America products in Utah, Idaho and a part of Oregon. He effected distribution of RCA products in that wide area through dealers whom he selected and licensed or otherwise authorized to distribute his products in the several communities in which they did business. He bought mer-

chandise directly from RCA, and resold it to dealers whom he had selected. The number of dealers authorized by him to sell RCA radios and records totalled 175 (Tr. 673).

In the spring of 1948 Earl discovered that he had critically over bought from the manufacturer and was facing financial disaster. He had in stock 300 to 350 high-priced console radios which were about to become obsolete. They were the 610-V1 model much talked about during the trial. To use his language upon the witness stand, Earl "could not eat" those old models. He "was stuck with them" and "had to shake them off" or face ruin (Tr. 622, 623).

Earl importuned all of his 175 dealers to take some of his outmoded merchandise. They all refused—all but plaintiff. Plaintiff was Earl's only "taker" and he worked off his entire stock upon plaintiff (Tr. 623). Plaintiff was thus victimized by Earl and was forced to business practices which degraded the trade name of RCA and other competing products purchased from other distributors by the plaintiff.

As fast as Earl passed on 610-V1 models to plaintiff, he passed to plaintiff the necessity of working off obsolete merchandise or being "stuck" with it. Accordingly, plaintiff began resorting to radio mystery tunes, guessing games and the promiscuous giving away of gift certificates to induce people to buy (Tr. 701 to 711). Meanwhile, Earl, in keeping with RCA policy, refused



to allow any other dealer in RCA radios to advertise RCA radios at any discount below retail prices suggested by him. Earl sold RCA radios to Nevins and Royle and other dealers not parties to this litigation. He required them to maintain "list prices" while plaintiff was resorting to all manner of discount schemes to work off the obsolete 610-V1 RCA radios upon the public (Tr. 630). Discounting RCA radios naturally brought on discount by plaintiff of the price of other radios, including Zenith. And, of course, discounting one model RCA radio made it difficult for any dealer to maintain list prices on other models.

During the summer and fall of 1948, dealers Nevins (Tr. 629) and Royle (Tr. 632) complained to Earl and told him that they must be permitted to advertise discounts as long as the practice persisted at plaintiff's store. Orvil Coon, another dealer (Tr. 634) dealing in RCA radios, informed Earl that he would be forced to advertise RCA radios at a discount if he was to move his stock of merchandise. Earl's answer was that dealers could not discount; that they had refused to buy the obsolete 610-V1 and would have to maintain list prices upon the RCA merchandise which they had purchased (Tr. 630).

In the early fall of 1948, plaintiff installed a record department and acquired the right from Earl to retail RCA records. In November 1948, Earl entered upon a "Fair Trade" agreement with Robert Nevins covering RCA records (Tr. 637, 1124, 1125, Exhibit OO).

The Fair Trade agreement was duly registered with the Trade Commission of the State of Utah on November 30, 1948 (Tr. 1125; Ex. PP), and thereupon it became unlawful for any retailer to sell RCA records at prices below those fixed in the trade agreement (Utah Code Annotated, 1943, Title 16A, Chapter 3).

In December plaintiff began the sale of Fair Traded RCA records at a twenty per cent discount. That was done to attract business and stimulate sale of other merchandise in plaintiff's store. Plaintiff's sale of RCA records at a discount was soon brought to the attention of other RCA dealers by their customers. Other dealers, including The Paris Company (Tr. 1076), Z. C. M. I. (Tr. 999), and Bigelow (Tr. 992) confirmed the sale by plaintiff of RCA records at a discount by causing purchases to be made at plaintiff's store. Naturally, dealers whose shelves were stocked with records which could not be discounted to compete with identical merchandise offered by plaintiff complained to Earl (Tr. 591) and insisted that something be done to eliminate the competitive advantage enjoyed by plaintiff through violation of the Fair Trade agreement. That is how and why The Paris Company and Bigelow became involved in controversy with Earl. They insisted that Earl stop violation of the Fair Trade agreement by plaintiff, or permit them to discount. They gave Earl the alternative of rebuying the stocks they had on hand (Tr. 591 to 606).

In November, 1948, plaintiff opened a store on State Street under the name of Radio City. Flint Distributing Company authorized plaintiff to sell Kelvinator and Bendix products and Zenith radios, and certain other products at that store (Tr. 1892). In December, 1948, plaintiff leased space on Pierpont Street, in the warehouse district of Salt Lake City, and there began the sale of all types of merchandise at heavy discount to certain large groups of industrial and commercial employees (Tr. 723 to 742).

On December 13, 1948 (Tr. 1839), Bradley, Badger, McDonough and Tanner met at the office of Flint Distributing Company with Leland B. Flint and his department heads and certain other employees. It is without dispute that the first part of that conference was devoted to a friendly discussion of Kelvinator products. Flint was urging plaintiff's representatives to purchase a large stock of Kelvinator ice boxes and other products (Tr. 1840, 755, 1015). There is a dispute in the record as to what was discussed following the references to Kelvinator. Plaintiff's representatives testified that Flint told them that their discounting practices were getting them in trouble, and that unless they changed their ways they would be destroyed (Tr. 756). They charge Flint with stating that at that very time a meeting was being held in Salt Lake City at which plaintiff's fate was to be settled (Tr. 757). According to them, Flint stated that the persons then convening to settle plaintiff's fate were the managers of Southeast Furni-

ture Company, The Paris Company, Z. C. M. I., and Gus P. Backman, Executive Secretary of Salt Lake City Chamber of Commerce (Tr. 757). Flint and all of his associates denied that Flint had ever referred to any such meeting, or that he had ever told plaintiff's representatives that plaintiff was about to be destroyed (Tr. 1846, 1847). That no meeting of persons representing Southeast Furniture Company (Tr. 1793), The Paris Company (Tr. 2111), Z. C. M. I. (Tr. 2119) and Gus P. Backman (Tr. 1787) was ever held was established without dispute by the testimony of each of the persons referred to.

On or about December 15, 1948, Leland B. Flint learned of the warehouse operations being carried on by the plaintiff on Pierpont Street (Tr. 1850). His representatives informed plaintiff that plaintiff would not be allowed to distribute Bendix (Tr. 1966, 1968) or Kelvinator (Tr. 1805) products through the Pierpont warehouse, but would be permitted to continue the sale of Zenith radios and Columbia records (Tr. 1154). Thereupon, plaintiff told Flint that it did not trust him and that if plaintiff could not sell as it pleased all of the lines distributed by Flint, plaintiff wanted none of his line (Tr. 770). Plaintiff arranged to return to Flint all merchandise then on hand and theretofore purchased from him, and to receive credit for such merchandise against the large balance owing Flint (Tr. 1807).



On December 17, 1948, Flint called upon Harold H. Bennett, Vice President and General Manager of Z. C. M. I., and spoke briefly about the type of operation carried on by plaintiff at the Pierpont warehouse. On that occasion Flint exhibited to Bennett one of the cards employed by plaintiff in advertising its warehouse operation on Pierpont Street. Early in January, after Flint's merchandise had been returned to him by plaintiff, and after Z. C. M. I. had discontinued the sale of Easy Washers to plaintiff, Flint was again in Bennett's office. That meeting was most brief. Flint said, "Mr. Bennett, I understand you are not getting along very well with Uptown Appliance. Is that right?" Bennett's reply was, "That is right." That was the extent of the conversation between Flint and Bennett (Tr. 1853, 1854). Those brief conversations between Flint and Bennett were seized upon by the plaintiff as the genesis of the alleged conspiracy. For sometime prior to the 17th of December, 1948, complaints had been reaching Mr. Bennett from his department heads to the effect that the trade practices of plaintiff, as they related to Easy Washers, were discrediting that commodity in the market (Tr. 980, 983). Bennett therefore decided to discontinue the sale of Easy Washers to plaintiff until plaintiff should adopt a method of advertising and sale of Easy Washers in harmony with Mr. Bennett's notions of sound merchandising (Tr. 986, 987).

By the first week in January, 1949, there was a general resentment among retailers of RCA records who were restrained by the Fair Trade law from competing

with plaintiff. On January 5, 1949, Jules S. Dreyfous, Vice President of The Paris Company, invited retailers of RCA records to meet at the Hotel Utah. Such a meeting was held and those present were E. M. Royle, Mr. Holland, a representative of Glen Brothers Music Company, two representatives of Daynes Music Company, a representative of Clark Radio Company, Reed C. Bigelow, Harold H. Bennett of Z. C. M. I., and two representatives of The Paris Company. The subject of discussion was the sale of phonograph records in violation of the Fair Trade laws. A. H. Nebeker, a member of the Bar, and attorney for The Paris Company and Z. C. M. I., was called in to advise those present. He told them that there was danger in concerted action, and that the state should police the Fair Trade law. The meeting thereupon broke up (Tr. 989 to 996). Dreyfous, of The Paris Company, took the matter up with the Trade Commission, and thereafter a letter was written by the Secretary of the Trade Commission to Plaintiff directing plaintiff to cease violation of the Fair Trade agreement (Tr. 1480 to 1482, Exhibit 44).

The method used by plaintiff in the sale of RCA records was to sell a book for \$20.00 which contained \$25.00 worth of coupons good for the purchase of phonograph records. It was shown that such coupons could be used for the purchase of Decca records and other records, as well as RCA records (Tr. 1000, 1354). When the manager of Salt Lake Hardware learned of the coupon method of price discounting, he concluded that



the value of his company's large inventory would be jeopardized by such long term discount, and refused to continue the sale to plaintiff of Decca records until the practice had been discontinued, and the effect of the coupon books had spent itself (Tr. 1919, 1929, 1959).

In February, 1949, Graybar Electric became concerned about the credit standing of plaintiff and suggested that it cooperate with plaintiff in an effort to have plaintiff's merchandise "floor planned" so as to relieve plaintiff's credit situation. Those efforts failed, and in February Graybar refused to sell Hotpoint merchandise to plaintiff (Tr. 2052 to 2056).

On January 15, 1949, Tanner resigned from plaintiff and resumed his employment with Wells, Baxter and Miller. In May, 1949, plaintiff turned over its lease at 38 South Main Street to Bradley and Badger. Those two continued at that place in the retail appliance business under the name of Bradley-Badger (Tr. 816, 817). They were so engaged at the time of the trial (Tr. 825).

In August, 1949, McDonough took employment with Glenn Earl as an appliance salesman (Tr. 1008, 1009).

On February 18, 1949, plaintiff brought this suit against Leland B. Flint; Flint Distributing Company, a corporation; Reed Bigelow, The Paris Company, a corporation; Graybar Electric Company, a corporation; Orvil J. Coon, doing business as Darling Appliance Department; Zion's Cooperative Mercantile Institution,

a corporation; E. M. Royle Company, Incorporated, a corporation; Frank Warren, doing business as Warren Radio Company; Salt Lake Hardware Company, a corporation; and Robert Nevins, claiming that they had conspired to fix and maintain prices in the Salt Lake territory on appliances, radio instruments and records, to limit the quantity and number of such articles to be sold, and to persuade, induce, entice and by threats to cut off the source of supply of merchandise to the plaintiff, and generally to cause the destruction of plaintiff's business (Tr. 1 to 15). Plaintiff, in its third amended complaint, upon which it went to trial, claimed actual damage in the sum of \$443,347.67, and prayed for treble damages in the sum of \$1,330,423.92 (Tr. 46 to 55). At the close of the trial, and after all the evidence was in, plaintiff amended its prayer to reduce its actual damage from \$443,347.67 to \$200,000.00, and its prayer for treble damages from \$1,330,423.92 to \$600,000.00 (Tr. 2190).

After plaintiff's original complaint was filed, numerous motions were lodged in good time against said complaint, as the result of which plaintiff was required to amend its complaint from time to time during 1949. After the third amended complaint had been filed, and motions addressed thereto had been argued and overruled defendants were required to answer. There followed an extended and protracted pretrial procedure (Tr. 88 to 96 and 98 to 100) and the case was set for trial on

December 12, 1949. Trial was thereafter continued first until December 27, 1949 (Tr. 94) and then again continued until January 3, 1950.

Plaintiff was represented in all pre-trial matters by W. C. Lamoreaux, and upon the trial by W. C. Lamoreaux and B. E. Roberts. Defendants were represented: Flint Distributing Company and Leland B. Flint by Harley W. Gustin and Harold R. Boyer; Salt Lake Hardware by Frank A. Johnson; Graybar Electric by W. W. Ray and Athol Rawlins; Z. C. M. I., The Paris Company and Reed Bigelow by Paul H. Ray, S. J. Quinney and Albert R. Bowen; E. M. Royle and Frank Warren by Delbert M. Draper; Robert Nevins by Gordon B. Christenson, and Orvil J. Coon by Marvin J. Bertoch.

Over the objection and affidavit of counsel for all defendants that the Honorable Joseph G. Jeppson was biased and prejudiced and therefore disqualified to hear and try the case, Judge Jeppson called the case for trial before himself and a jury on January 3, 1950 (Tr. 460). The affidavit denominated "AFFIDAVIT OF BIAS, CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL, AND APPLICATION FOR DISQUALIFICATION OF JUDGE," signed and sworn to by counsel for all the defendants, omitting the caption and signatures, read as follows: (Tr. 101 to 104).

"The undersigned, attorneys of record or otherwise, for the various defendants in the above-entitled cause and action, after being duly sworn each for himself deposes and says:

“That he is of the belief that the Honorable Joseph G. Jeppson, the Judge before whom the above cause is set for trial, is prejudiced therein against the defendants above named and some, if not all, of their respective attorneys, and has a bias in favor of the plaintiff above named.

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