1951

# Uptown Appliance & Radio Company, Inc. v. Leland B. Flint et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### THE TRIAL COURT HAD JURISDICTION TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL TO RESPONDENT.

The principal argument of appellants brief beginning at page 24 is that the trial court, by an invalid usurpation of power, granted a new trial to respondent. Their argument is bottomed on the proposition that the trial court did not ascribe reasons within the precise words of the new rules, and the reasons given are beyond the pale and without power to effect the new trial. This argument is wholly without merit.

It is also submitted that the last and most authoritative decision of this court is based on a record where the court below granted a motion for a new trial without giving *any* reason therefor.

*Stack v. Kearnes*, 221 P2d 594.

In the King case, post, the appellant quarrelled about the grounds upon which the lower court had granted the motion for a new trial, but the court paid no heed to such an argument.

In a line of cases hereinafter treated, the doctrine is aptly stated that the motion for a new trial will not be disturbed if it could have been properly granted upon any of the grounds asked for by the maker of the motion.

We will take the position here that the words used by the trial court below are of no consequence; and that the trial court in granting the motion used appropriate words within the meaning and import of the new rules.

Respondent, in moving for a new trial, cited 22 reasons therefor including those required by the rules and those stated by the trial court. (R. 146, 161)

#### QUESTION DECIDED BY UTAH SUPREME COURT

The Utah rules of Civil Procedure (Rule 59) set forth the essential terms and conditions under which a new trial may be given. Said rules follow substan-

tially the code which has been in effect in Utah for many years, and which were taken almost bodily from the California Code of Civil Procedure.

*King v. Union Pacific Ry.*, 212 P2 692.

This court in the *King* case and later in *Stack v. Kearnes*, 221 P2 594 reviewed the law on the "breadth of the trial court's discretion in granting a new trial" and found it had a wide discretion.

To review exhaustively these recent cases would be a needless expense here. They constitute a profound utterance clearly announcing principles found to exist in Utah and California law, as well as the roots of the Common Law for centuries. The *King* case reviews the Utah decisions and calls attention to cardinal rules to be here followed:

In one of its earliest cases this court announced that where the testimony is conflicting, the granting or refusing of a new trial rests peculiarly within the discretion of the trial court.

*Newton v. Brown*, 2 Utah 126.

Where there is a substantial conflict of evidence on a material issue we will not review the discretion exercised by the trial court in granting a new trial.

*Davis v. Utah Southern Ry. Co.*, 3 Utah 218.  
2 P. 521.

Again in *Utah State National Bank v. Livingston*, 69 Utah 284, 254 P. 281, this court ap-

plied the same rule and upheld a trial court which had granted a new trial where the evidence was conflicting upon an essential issue of the case.

*Thompson v. Bown Live Stock*, 74 Utah 1, 276 P. 651.

This court then reviewed in the King case the California decisions which are carried automatically into our law with the enactment of the California civil code. This court said in that analysis:

From an examination of the California decisions, it is apparent that the trial courts of that state possess a wide latitude in granting motions for new trials . . . .

In California it is not an abuse of discretion for a trial court to grant a new trial upon the grounds of insufficient evidence to justify the verdict:

(1) Where there is a conflict in the evidence or where there is substantial evidence which would support a judgment in favor of the party asking for a new trial,

(2) unless a decision in favor of the moving party would have no legal support in the evidence,

(3) when the evidence is conflicting upon the issues to be decided since the trial court is "at liberty to find either way" on the motion; also when the evidence is not conflicting, and all the proof seems to be favorable to one or the other of the parties litigant, since the trial court must determine the question as to the

“probative force or evidentiary value of the testimony”,

(4) even where there is sufficient evidence to support the judgment on appeal had the new trial been denied. (Note: the following are the cases cited in the King decision for the above doctrines:

*Union Oil v. Hane*, 34 Cal. App. 2d 689, 94 P2d 387

*Roma Wine v. Hardware Mutual Ins.*, 31 Cal. App. 2d 455, 88 P2d 260

*Erickson v. Grady*, 119 Cal. App. 596, 6 P2d 1002

*Laverne v. Dold*, 17 Cal. App. 2d 180, 61 P2d 497

*Kehlor v. Satterlee*, 37 Cal. App. 2d 116, 98 P2d 759

*Glascock v. Watters*, 136 Cal. App. 713, 29 P2d 434

The *Rose v. Carter* case, 29 Cal. App. 2d 191, 84 P2d 174, cited with approval in the King case, is an example of the treatment needed in the case at bar, where defendant got a verdict. The appellate court observed the evidence against said defendant was but slight. The court further stated that the defendant's appeal was by no means unjustified or without merit, stating that there was

“a generous abundance of evidence in support of the jury's verdict. Indeed, in the light of the record, any other verdict could scarcely have been expected. Nevertheless the law is well settled that insufficiency of the evidence to justify a verdict is a ground for a new trial which is

peculiarly within the discretion of the trial court and its order either granting or denying a new trial will not be disturbed on appeal, unless it appears there was a manifest abuse of discretion.”

With but “slight evidence” against the defendant he was required to undergo a new trial. In the case at bar, the court will be impressed, to say the least, with respondent’s evidence that there was prima facie evidence of a conspiracy, whether the jury believed it or not.

*Prout v. Perkins*, 69 P2d 194.

The most recent declaration of this court on the question of the discretion of the trial court to act on a motion for a new trial is *Stack v. Kearnes*, 221 P2d 594; there the trial court goes one step further than in the King case and grants the motion without giving any reason for so doing, a practice evidently unanimously approved by this court. The opinion observed, as to the holding in the King case:

We held that where there appears in the record competent evidence which would support a verdict in favor of the party moving for a new trial, there is no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court in granting a new trial upon that ground.

Many cases have held that where there is substantial competent evidence, the trial court is fully authorized, and indeed it is its duty to grant the



motion, if in its judgment justice has not been done by the verdict.

But here we have our own Utah court going further in 1950 and approving the action of the trial court in the absence of any reasons given by the trial court in granting the motion, and when there is but "competent evidence," to say nothing of the standard of substantial, or uncontradicted evidence. Certainly the trial court had jurisdiction.

In the well-reasoned case of *Campanella v. Campanella*, 269 P. 433, 1928, the supreme court of California lays down the important rule respecting the "general" language used by the trial court in the case at bar, as distinguished from specific words contended for:

It is the well established rule of this court that when the order of the trial court in granting a new trial is general in its terms, it will be affirmed if it could properly have been granted upon any of the grounds upon which the motion for it was predicated. (Cases.) It is an equally well-settled and long-established rule of this court that an order granting a new trial will not be disturbed upon appeal, except upon a showing of clear and manifest abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court in respect to granting the same.

*Scott v. Times-Mirror Co.*, 174 P. 312

*Weiseer v. S. P. Co.*, 83 P. 439, 148 Cal. 426

*Morgan v. J. W. Robinson Co.* 107 P. 695

In the *Morgan v. J. W. Robinson* case, *supra*, the trial court was unanimously affirmed by the California supreme court where the lower court had used the general language that the new trial “is ordered to be and the same is hereby granted;” thus no reason was given, as in the *Stack* case. Note also in the *Weiseer* case, *supra*, the supreme court of California stated:

It is the duty of the trial court to grant a new trial on such ground (insufficiency of evidence) whenever the judge is convinced that the verdict is clearly *against the weight of the evidence* . . . (Italics added.)

In the *Scott* case, *supra*, the motion was made as in the case at bar on the grounds stated in the statute, but the motion was granted by the trial court in general terms: The Supreme Court of California stated:

It is the well-settled rule of this court that when the order of the trial court in granting a new trial is general in its terms it will be affirmed if it could properly have been granted on *any* grounds upon which the motion for it was predicated. (Cased cited.)

The specious nature of appellants argument of lack of jurisdiction of the trial court to grant a new trial is well illustrated by reference to the practice in Idaho where the same statutory reasons for giving a new trial are in effect as in Utah and California. 1 *Idaho Code Annotated* 1932, 485, and 2 *Idaho Code* 656.

The Idaho Supreme Court in *MacDonald v. Ogan*,

104 P2d 1106 took occasion to state, in a case where the reason for the trial court granting a new trial were not elucidated:

This appeal illustrates the great importance of trial courts specifying the grounds on which a new trial is granted. We have frequently pointed out the desirability of such a practice and recommended its adoption by the courts.

Where a motion for a new trial has been made on several grounds and the trial court grants the same without designating the ground upon which the order is made, the order will not be disturbed on appeal if it could have been granted properly on any ground mentioned in the motion.

*Gray v. Pierson*, 64 P. 33, 7 Idaho 540

*Penninger Lateral Co. v. Clark*, 117 P. 764, 20 Idaho 166

Respondent here asked the trial court for a new trial stating twenty-two grounds therefor, including the grounds of the rule of "insufficiency of the evidence" and the verdict is against the weight of the evidence; (R. 146) thus the decision of the trial court is supported by the best of authority.

#### TRIAL COURT'S LANGUAGE ADEQUATE

It is submitted that there is great and undisputed authority for the proposition that the language used by the trial court was substantially within the meaning

and powers set forth in the new rules. The trial court stated that the "verdict is against the weight of evidence." The new rules, 59-(6), state a new trial may be had based on "insufficiency of the evidence." It is further submitted that the two expressions mean one and the same thing.

The terms "insufficiency of the evidence" require an analysis by the trial court of the evidence, and the weight to be given it. Such an inquiry forces consideration of the weight of the evidence. The terms are reciprocal. Indeed, the United States Supreme Court said in a foundation decision many years ago, since widely followed, of the words "against the weight" as being within the terms "insufficient evidence."

*Metropolitan Railroad v. Moore*, 121 U.S. 558.

The court in the same case further stated, in construing the meaning of the words, and the powers of trial courts in applying them to the problem of granting new trials:

In many cases it might be the duty of the court to withdraw the case from the jury, or to direct a verdict in a particular way; and yet in others, where it would be proper to submit the case to the jury, it might become its duty to set aside the verdict and grant a new trial. That obligation, however, is the result of a conclusion of fact, and in such cases the ground of the ruling is, that the verdict is not supported by sufficient evidence, because it is against the weight of the evidence . . . . it is admitted, also,

that by the construction placed upon the language contained in § 804 by the courts of New York, it includes motions to set aside a verdict against the *weight of evidence*, as within the phrase 'for insufficient evidence'. This was the very point determined in the case just referred to of *Angeo v. Dunca*, 39 N.Y. 313.

In *Angeo v. Dunca*, supra, decided by the New York Supreme Court in 1888 that court lays down the solid and well-followed rule that there is no want of power in the judge presiding at the trial to set aside a verdict rendered by a jury, when it is palpably against law, or wholly and clearly *unwarranted* by the evidence. The appellate court held that a code provision of that state granting a new trial for insufficient evidence, among other reasons, did not by any implication limit or abridge the power which would exist had the code provision not been enacted. In other words the old New York decision is the basis for the generalization used by many modern texts to the effect that:

Power or authority to order a new trial is in its inception a common-law right, and is inherent in all courts of general common-law jurisdiction. . . . A statute which purports to limit this power, being in derogation of the common law, should be strictly construed. Nor will a statute governing new trials be construed to restrict the authority of the court unless the intention of the legislature so to do is plainly manifested. 39 Am. Jur. 34

*Inland and Seaboard Coasting Co. v. Hall*, 124  
U.S. 121

The California Supreme Court has several times held that insufficiency of the evidence means want of evidence as well as contrary to the weight of the evidence.

*Campanella v. Campanella*, 269 P. 433

*In re Bainbridges Estate*, 146 P. 427

*Southern Pac. Land Co. v. Dickerson*, 204 P. 576

*In re Caspar's Estate*, 155 P. 631.

In the *Bainbridge Estate* case, supra, the supreme court of California clearly construed as similar the meaning of the terms here under review:

In the determination of a motion for a new trial, the verdict should be set aside if, in the opinion of the trial court, it is not supported by sufficient evidence; and this is equally true whether there be an absence of evidence or that the evidence received, in the individual judgment of the trial judge, is lacking in probative force to establish the proposition of fact to which it is addressed. This is the meaning of the terms "insufficiency of evidence" and "contrary to evidence."

The narrow construction argued by the defendants to the effect that the trial court must find for a new trial specifically within the words of the new rules is further made ridiculous by the following quotation appearing in the same *Bainbridges Estate*, supra, where



the same court quotes from an earlier California decision by the same court as follows:

While it is the exclusive province of the jury to find the facts, it is nevertheless one of the most important requirements of the trial judge to see to it that this function of the jury is intelligently and justly exercised. In this respect, while he cannot competently interfere with or control the jury in passing upon the evidence, he nevertheless exercises a very salutary supervisory power over their verdict. In the exercise of that power he should always satisfy himself that the evidence as a whole is sufficient to sustain the verdict found, and, if in his sound judgment it is not, he should unhesitatingly say so, and set the verdict aside.

In the case at bar, the trial court was not at all satisfied by the verdict as rendered. In no uncertain words it has so stated. To the court who viewed the witnesses, heard and saw the entire panorama of this most interesting and significant trial, his feelings were so strong as to compel him to state that “a new trial is *required* to prevent a miscarriage of justice.” Such strong language is certainly not to be lightly looked upon. The evidence was full. It was contested. On the question of the existence of a conspiracy, it is evident that the court felt there was strong evidence upon which a jury could well find for the plaintiff’s even under the high standard of evidence required under its instructions. He was not satisfied that the jury had properly understood and acted upon the evi-



dence. It was clearly within his sound discretion and duty to grant a new trial under the timely motion made by respondent.

In *Weiseer v. Southern Pac. Ry.*, 83 P. 439, the California Supreme Court, in upholding the granting of a new trial against a verdict for plaintiff awarding substantial damages, observed not only the trial court had used but general language in granting the new trial but specifically used the very words used by the trial case in the case at bar as follows:

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